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1. Name of Property

historic name: Fenner, Thomas, House

other name/site number:

2. Location

street & number: 43 Stony Acre Drive

not for publication: _N/A

city/town: Cranston vicinity: _N/A
state: _RI county: Providence code: _007 zip code: 02920
3. Classification
Ownership of Property: __ Private
Category of Property: Building
Number of Resources within Property:
Contributing  Noncontributing

4 0 buildings

0 0 sites

0 0 structures

0 0 objects

4 0 Total
Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register: 0

Name of related multiple property listing: N/A
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4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1986, as amended, | hereby certify that this

_X nomination ____ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering
properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in
36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property _X meets ____ does not meet the National Register Criteria.
N/A See continuation sheet.
at N oussan, 2 Newm 1390
Signature of certifying official ) Date

Rhode Island Historical Preservation Commission
State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property meets does not meet the National Register criteria.
See continuation sheet.

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Cenrtification

| hereby certify that this property is:

> entered in the National Register \W 3/ "y 70

See continuation sheet. / [

determined eligible for the
National Register

See continuation sheet.
determined not eligible for the
National Register
removed from the National Register

other (explain):

27" Signature of Keeper Date
of Action
6. Function or Use
Historic: DOMESTIC Sub: single dwelling
DOMESTIC secondary structure
AGRICULTURE/SUBSISTENCE agricultural outbuilding
Current; DOMESTIC Sub: single dwelling

DOMESTIC secondary structure
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7. Description

Architectural Classification:

COLONIAL/Postmedieval English
COIONIAL/Georgian

Other Description: N/A

Materials: foundation STONE roof
walls WOOD/Weatherboard other

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

WOOD/Shingle

N/A

_X_ See continuation sheet.

8. Statement of Significance

Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties: _ national

Applicable National Register Criteria: _A & C

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions): _N/A

Areas of Significance: ARCHITECTURE
EXPLORATION/SETTLEMENT

Period(s) of Significance: 1677 ca 1835
Significant Dates: 1677 ca 1835
Significant Person(s): N/A

Cultural Affiliation: N/A

Architect/Builder: Unknown

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance

noted above.

_X_See continuation sheet.
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9. Major Bibliographical References

X See continuation sheet.

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested.
previously listed in the National Register

previously determined eligible by the National Register

designated a National Historic Landmark

recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey #

recorded by Historic American Engineering Record  #

Primary Location of Additional Data:

X _ State historic preservation office
Other state agency

Federal agency

Local government
University

Other -- Specify Repository:

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property: 2.55 acres

UTM References: Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

A _19 4629340 293210 B
C D

See continuation sheet.
Verbal Boundary Description: See continuation sheet.

The nominated property is coextensive with City of Cranston Assessor's Plat
37-2, lot 6.

Boundary Justification: See continuation sheet.

The nominated property encompasses the remaining acreage of the Fenner
farmstead and includes all surviving buildings which were historically part
of the property.

11. Form Prepared By

Name/Title: Robert Owen Jones, Senior Historic Preservation Specialist
Organization: Rhode Island Historical Preservation Commission Date: _Oct 1989
Street & Number: 150 Benefit Street Telephone: _401-277-2678

City or Town: Providence State: RT ZIP: _02903
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Description

The Thomas Fenner House, the oldest part of which dates from 1677, is
one of very few surviving examples of Rhode Island post-medieval '"stone-
ender" construction, with additions and alterations dating from the
eighteenth, nineteenth, and twentieth centuries. As it stands today, the
house is a two-and-one-half-story timber-frame structure with a fieldstone
foundation and a wood-shingle saltbox roof with an early twentieth-century
shed dormer on the long slope. The facade, with a central entrance flanked
on each side by two windows on each floor, is symmetrically arranged,
though the openings are not evenly spaced. Exterior walls are covered with
clapboard, except for a massive, exposed stone chimney which takes up most
of the north end wall. A smaller interior end chimney of brick rises from
the south end. The house, facing east, stands south of Plainfield Pike (RI
Route 14) on a tract measuring approximately two and one-half acres. It is
set on sloping ground that declines to Stone Pond, at the southwest edge of
the property. The old lane leading from Plainfield Pike to the house still
survives, but a new driveway running from Stony Acre Drive is now used as
the principal approach. The grounds comprise grass lawns dotted with
informal plantings of trees and shrubs, and some clumps of undergrowth
skirting sections of the pond's shore. These surroundings, though much
smaller in extent than the historic limits of the farmstead, help to buffer
the house from what is now a rather densely built-up suburban neighborhood,
providing a setting remarkable for its pleasant and quiet country ambience.
The property also contains a late nineteenth-century barn with vertical-
board sheathing, located south and east of the house; a vertical-board shed
south of the barn; and a privy east of the shed.

The Fenner House has been known and appreciated as a historic landmark
at least since the 1880s. It has been described in two important
architectural studies: Norman M. Isham's and Albert F. Brown's Early Rhode
Island Houses (1895) and Antoinette F. Downing's Early Homes of Rhode

Island (1937). As these authors observed it, the Fenner House was an
accretion of several phases of construction, with a number of original
features changed or covered by later alterations or additions. 1In their

book Isham and Brown outlined a theory of the house's structural evolution
and a conjectural restoration of its original appearance. However, a
number of features, some only recently uncovered during an ongoing
restoration undertaken by the house's present owners since 1981, seem to
contradict earlier analyses of the development of the house's plan and
massing.

The exterior of the Fenner House is dominated by the exposed chimney
on the north end, constructed of fieldstone laid in shell lime mortar. By
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the 1890s, as shown in old pictures, the chimney had been coated with
whitewash, with the date "1677" painted on it, and topped out in brick,
with pilastered sides and some projecting courses near the top. The
present owners have removed the whitewash and painted date and constructed
a stone top which encases the brick stack. The form of this stone top was
modeled after the brick one found in place here and on stone chimneys of
other surviving and restored seventeenth-century dwellings in the region.
It is articulated with a projecting water table, pilasters, and a
projecting crown.

Over the years the house's fenestration was changed. The early parts
of the house must have had small casement windows. A single small, square
garret window on the north end, filled with later sash, may survive as an
example of the original fenestration. The windows must have been enlarged
at least once, possibly twice, and were refitted at different times with
different types of double-hung sash. Some window openings have the tall,
narrow proportions commonly used during the first half of the eignteenth
century, while most have proportions which suggest that they date from the
late eighteenth or early nineteenth century. The present window openings
are fitted with heavy mortise-and-tenon, pegged frames with flat-board
caps. Until recently these frames were filled with double-hung sash, most
with six-over-six lights, except for some narrower windows on the west and
south elevations with nine-over-nine lights. The present owners have
installed new sash, with nine-over-nine or nine-over-six lights in the
narrow windows and twelve-over-twelve or twelve-over-eight lights in the
windows which formerly contained six-over-six sash. The dormer contains
modern single and paired windows with six-over-six and six-over-one lights.

On the south end of the house, a gabled bulkhead near the west corner
contains a door and stairway leading to the cellar. An entrance on the
south end near the east corner was closed up by the present owners.
Entrances on the east and west elevations have plain frames and plank-and-
batten doors.

The main entrance on the east opens directly into the great room or
fire room of the original part of the house. This room measures eighteen
and one-half feet square, a bit larger than the sixteen- or seventeen-foot
bay characteristic of post-medieval construction in New England. Until
recently the great room appeared as it had been renovated in the eighteenth
and nineteenth centuries, with cased timbers and plastered walls and
ceiling; a closet with a two-panel door and a smaller brick fireplace, both
constructed during the mid-1700s within the opening of the original stone
fireplace; and a pantry in the small area east of the chimney, probably the
location of the original stairway to the chamber. A nineteenth-century
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drawing showed this pantry with a two-panel door, which was not in place
when the present owners acquired the property. The present owners have
selectively restored the great room by removing some later elements. The
massive, hewn corner posts, girts, and summer beam are again exposed to
view. The chimney girt, end girt, back girt, and summer have chamfered
edges with lambs' tongue stops; on the end and chimney girts, the
chamfering stops short of the summer on each side, and does not run the
full length of the beam under the junctions with the summer. The original
stone fireplace has been reopened, and measures approximately ten feet
wide, three feet nine inches deep, and five feet eight inches high. The
opening is spanned by a chimney tree seventeen inches high, with a wide,
complex molding on the bottom edge composed of cyma recta and quarter-round
sections separated by a bead of right-angle section (Photo #6). The
fireplace has splayed side walls and a blind arch below a recessed panel in
the back wall. Next to the fireplace, a new plank door opens into a closet
occupying the space which had been a pantry. The east and west walls,
covered with plaster, are of stud construction, while the south wall is of
plank construction; the latter form is more typical of timber-frame
domestic building in the Providence area. The planks of the south wall and
joists and planks of the ceiling are now exposed. The west wall contained
two doors: the one leading to the present kitchen remains, while the one
to the northwest corner room has been closed up. A door in the south wall
leads to the southeast corner room. The floor of the great room is
composed of wide planks of hard pine, most very old, if not original, with
a few newer replacements. The planks are cut and fitted so that there is a
straight break running across the room from a point just north of the main
entrance. Along this break, six pockets, now filled, are cut into the
floor as if to hold the balusters of a railing, though the pockets are not
of uniform shape or size. An unusual feature of the great room is the
graffiti in eighteenth-century script found on the chimney tree and south
wall planking when the later walls covering these elements were removed.
The graffiti includes the initials "J" and "R," and the phrase "six days of
sin" inscribed near the west end of the chimney tree. The great room is
now furnished with late seventeenth- and early eighteenth-century antiques
and handsome reproductions made by one of the owners.

The floor plan of the Fenner House published by Isham & Brown in 1895
shows two rooms east of the great room, separated by a passage leading to
the rear entrance, and three rooms in the south end of the house. The
northwest corner room was entered from the great room. The west end of the
stone chimney, abutting this room, had been walled over. From the passage,
a short flight of steps led down to a half cellar set slightly below grade,
lit by a window in the west wall set lower than the other first-floor
windows, as shown in an old photograph. Another short flight led up to a



E\JPS )Form 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
8-86

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Property name Fenner, Thomas, House

Section number 7 Page 8

half chamber over the half cellar, tucked under the long slope of the
saltbox roof. The south end of the house was partitioned into one room on
the east, with enclosed staircases down to the cellar and up to the second
floor, and two rooms on the west. The brick end chimney, built on a
modified triangular plan with truncated corners, stood between the
southeast and southwest corner rooms, and contained corner fireplaces in
both rooms and an oven in the southeast room.

When the present owners purchased the house, they found that the half
cellar had been eliminated and a floor put in at the same level as the rest
of the first story. The space was outfitted as a kitchen, with cabinets
and fixtures dating from the 1920s or 1930s. The partitions dividing the
south end into three rooms had been removed to make two rooms separated by
the corner fireplaces. These two rooms connected through a broad archway
of dark-stained pine with half-height bookcases topped by square pillars,
typical of the finish found in early twentieth-century bungalows.

The present owners closed up the door from the great room into the
northwest corner room, cut a new door in the room's south wall, added a
closet in the corner room, and removed the wall covering the stone chimney.
This room has been made into a lavatory. Corner posts on the north wall
and the massive back girt, cased with flat boards, are visible.

The owners renovated the kitchen with new cabinets and fixtures in a
galley layout. A new fixed-sash window with twenty small lights has been
installed in the west wall. A doorway in the west wall leads out to the
yard. The owners also removed a partition at the south end of the old
kitchen. A pair of cased posts marks the location of this removed
partition. During renovation the owners found pockets in the northernmost
of these posts and a timber on the opposite wall which showed where the
framing had been for the floor of the half chamber above the old half
cellar. The massive cased back girt is visible along the west wall of the
kitchen.

The owners removed the early twentieth-century archway adjoining the
south chimney and rebuilt the room partitions taken out when the archway
was installed. The locations of the reconstructed partitions were
established by evidence in the framing: the remains of a ceiling timber,
which had been partially cut away to make it smaller, found when the
archway was removed, and a break in the casing of the back girt, which
showed the point of intersection of the perpendicular wall. The south end
is again subdivided into three spaces: a southwest corner room, a
southeast corner room, and a small dining area opening off the south end of
the new kitchen.
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In the southeast corner of the dining area, the eighteenth-century
closet removed from the great room fireplace has been installed. Opposite
this cupboard, the southwest corner post and portions of the external
surface of the great room's end girt and plank wall are exposed. A molding
is nailed below the lower edge of the girt, and there are ghost marks of
plaster on the planking which appear to indicate the presence of a
staircase here at one time.

The southwest and southeast corner rooms are both now used as sitting
rooms, the latter larger than the former. The walls of both rooms are
plastered, and are of stud construction on the exterior perimeter of the
house. 1In each room the corner chimney breasts are formed of two planes
set at an angle [see plan]. The fireboxes, each measuring about four by
three feet, are untrimmed. Above each is a fascia and mantel shelf trimmed
with moldings whose profiles suggest a mid- to late eighteenth century
date. In the southwest corner room, a recessed cupboard is set above the
mantel in the narrow side wall of the chimney breast. The southwest corner
post and back girt, both cased, are visible. In the southeast corner roonm,
there is a recessed cupboard above the mantel over the firebox, and the
narrow side wall of the chimney breast contains an oven with an iron door.
A cased post in the south end wall of this room, adjacent to the fireplace,
is original. Casings of the southeast corner post and ceiling timber along
the west partition wall are replacements put in by the present owners.

They mark the location of timbers which at some point had been cut back so
that they did not protrude into the room.

At the north end of the southeast corner room, walled off from the
room and reached through a board-and-batten door, a single-run staircase
with winders at the bottom leads up to the second floor. On the north side
of the staircase, the external surface of the great room end girt and wall
planks are visible, as is the molding along the girt visible in the kitchen

dining area, described above. This molding apparently continues along the
entire length of the girt, covered by the plaster wall at the north end of

the southeast corner room.

Upstairs, there were two chambers separated by a narrow hallway before
construction of the dormer in 1939 created added headroom for three rooms
across the back of the house. In the second-floor hall, a cased diagonal
brace protrudes from the wall, marking the limit of the southwest corner of
the great room chamber.

The great room chamber, like the room below it, is eighteen and one-
half feet square. However, the framing here is slightly different, with
the summer running parallel to rather than perpendicular to the chimney
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girt. The use of the transverse summer, found in some Massachusetts
houses, is rare in Rhode Island. The overall framing configuration that it
creates here, with lower- and upper-story summer beams oriented
perpendicular to one another, is also far less common in Rhode Island than
in Massachusetts (other examples in the state include the Eleazer Arnold
House in Lincoln and the Wilbour House in Little Compton, the latter town
originally part of Massachusetts). In the eighteenth century a smaller
fireplace and oven were built within the chamber's original fireplace, and
a partition was erected across the room under the summer in 1889 [date
inscribed on partition, found by present owners]. South of this partition,
a transom window was at some point cut in the west wall, opening into the
adjoining space. The present owners have removed this later partition
under the summer, removed the transom window in the west wall and plastered
over the opening, and reopened and partially rebuilt the original stone
fireplace, but have left in place the wall and ceiling plaster and the
casings enclosing the massive timbers. During renovations, the owners were
able to get into the summer casing from the attic above, and discovered
shreds of newspaper dating from 1812-14. After reconstructing the original
stone fireplace, the owners replastered the wall around the firebox,
following ghost lines visible from an earlier plastering job, and lined the
plaster edge with narrow lath trim. In front of the space once occupied by
the original staircase, east of the fireplace, the floor boards have
pockets cut into them which probably once held balusters. The former stair
well is now a closet lined with beaded matchboard, but within it the
uncased northeast corner post with gunstock profile is visible. A shallow
closet occupies space on the west side of the fireplace. A door in the
west wall opens into an adjoining chamber within the dormer. This room
connects to the hallway and the northwest corner chamber, the latter also
in space opened up by the dormer. This northwest corner chamber is now
outfitted as a modern bathroom.

The dormer also created additional room for a southwest chamber. A
cased post is visible on the south end wall. The eighteenth-century two-
panel door now hanging in the doorway from the hallway into this chamber
was found in the house, and is probably the door which was originally
between the great room and the pantry, shown in an early drawing mentioned
above.

The southeast chamber, reached through doorways from both the hallway
and the southwest chamber, has a cased post visible in the southeast
corner, and a corner fireplace in the south end chimney, with a recessed
cupboard above the mantel over the firebox. From this chamber, an enclosed
single-run staircase with winders at the bottom leads up to the attic. 1In
the attic stair well, portions of the timber frame are visible: the front
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plate, the corner post and girt at the south end of the great room chamber,
and a diagonal brace.

The attic stairs come up along the south edge of the girt that marks
the south end of the great room chamber below. The attic floor north of
this beam is even with the top of the beam; the floor to the south is
aligned with the bottom of the beam. On the south side of this beam, the
bottom edge is chamfered, and pockets for joists are cut along the top
edge. The roof is supported by ten sets of hewn rafters and collar beams
mortised and pegged together. Incised Roman numerals are visible on some
of these timbers, as was common with this type of construction to guide the
housewright's assembly of the parts. As noted by Isham & Brown in their
1895 publication, the three sets of rafters centered over the north portion
of the house are cut off above the collar beams; no explanation has yet
been found for this unusual feature. Thinner, later members sistered to
the lower parts of these rafters now extend to the roof peak to support the
roof sheathing. The stonework of the chimney's flue stack and the shoulder
walls of thinner section on each side of it are visible at the north end of
the attic.

The house has a full cellar under the great room and the south end.
There is only a crawl space under the kitchen and lavatory, probably
representing the floor level of the old half cellar which formerly occupied
the kitchen space. The internal staircase to the basement enters the
cellar under the southern portion of the house. Here brick piers hold
timbers which support the south end chimney, with diagonal beams marking
the line of the hearths above. One hewn joist supporting the floor above
has a quarter-round molded edge. Such finish is unusual for a cellar, and
the beam does not appear to be related to any other structural feature of
the house; it 1is possible that the timber is reused. Stone is built to a
great thickness along a portion of the wall between the south cellar and
the north cellar and crawlspace. Isham states that this was done simply to
give a smoother finish to a wall face which was not originally intended to
be exposed. On the south side, west of the south chimney supports, steps
in an areaway lead directly outdoors through the bulkhead. A door on the
north near the internal staircase opens into the north cellar, the floor
level of which is a step higher than the floor level of the south cellar.
The massive stone foundation walls here are pierced by a tiny window on the
east, and small niches are set in the west foundation wall and in the
immense base which supports the stone end chimney. The most remarkable
feature visible here are the joists supporting the floor of the great room.
These joists are heavy hewn beams running east-west, varying from eight to
twelve inches in width and set on average only five inches apart. Such
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.massive construction is unknown in any other timber-framed dwelling in
Rhode Island.

Although no archaeological investigations have been made of the
house's surroundings to date, it is likely that the property contains the
buried remains of outbuilding foundations and artifact deposits which could
provide invaluable information on over three hundred years of human
occupation and use of this site.

Analysis

According to Isham's analysis of the evolution of the Fenner House,
the original structure was built on a single-cell plan a full two and one-
half stories high, with the stonework of the chimney stack exposed on the
north and also on the west on the first story. The dwelling originally
comprised only the present great room and great room chamber, with the
cellar below and attic above them. Then a one-story lean-to was added on
the west side, probably at an early date, for the framing of a window
measuring 18-3/4 by 13 inches was found in the west wall in 1893 and
uncovered again by the present owners in the 1980s, evidence that the house
originally had small casement windows typical of seventeenth-century
construction. The house and lean-to were then lengthened on the south. 1In
one of Isham's manuscript notebooks [vol. R. I. 2], there is a brief note
stating that the south addition of the Thomas Fenner House was built before
1751, but the deed cited by Isham as evidence for this statement actually
refers to the Arthur Fenner House, which once stood nearby. In any case,
the south addition was "rebuilt in 1835," according to a description of the
house printed in a genealogy of the Fenner family [Root, 1887], or "pulled
down and replaced by the present south end about 1837" [Isham & Brown,
1895]. A long shed dormer, added on the west slope of the saltbox roof
above the lean-to in 1939, was the final change to the external massing of
the house.

In general the position and dimension of visible framing members seem
to support this analysis of the building's structural chronology. The
arrangement of posts appears to indicate that the great room, the lean-to,
and the end south of both the great room and lean-to were framed as
separate units. The size of timbers in the lean-to indicate a construction
date in the late seventeenth century, or first quarter of the eighteenth
century at the latest, while those of the south end are smaller, indicating
a construction date after 1720-25. This is especially evident along the
west wall, where the cased girt visible in the lavatory and kitchen
measures fifteen and three-quarter inches by six and one-half inches, while
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that in the dining area and southwest corner room measures six inches by
six and one-half inches.

However, a number of features contradict this analysis. The external
surfaces of the original post and sheathing at the southwest corner of the
great room, which are now visible in the present dining area off the
kitchen, show no evidence of nail holes. If this had been at one time an
exterior wall, it would have been covered with clapboards, and the holes
left by the nails used to attach the clapboards should remain even though
the clapboards themselves do not. Also, the east and west walls of the
great room are of stud construction while the south wall is not. These
facts suggest that the west wall was once an outside wall and the south
wall was probably not an exterior wall but instead an internal partition.
The molding along the south lower edge of the great room end girt, visible
in the dining area and stairwell, show that at one time this wall was
exposed as an interior partition, later plastered over. However, the fact
that the molding is separate from the beam suggests that it was added
later. If the house originally had been constructed with a room south of
the great room, the girt most likely would have been chamfered on both
sides while it was being hewn. Upstairs, the end girt of the great room
chamber, though cased in the chamber, is visible uncased along the attic
floor. This timber is chamfered along the lower edge on the south side and
cut to receive floor joists along the top. The configuration of this beam
suggests that the original house consisted of two rooms laterally arranged
on each floor, but the treatment of the beam in the same position on the
floor below, with chamfering on the north side only, seems to contradict
this possibility.

Structural analysis of the south end of the Fenner House is also
hampered by inconsistencies that make it difficult to ascertain the dates
and sequence of construction. In stone-enders enlarged by lengthening the
house on the end away from the original chimney, the addition often
contained a triangular-plan chimney with corner fireplaces [Isham & Brown].
Triangular-plan chimneys appear in Providence-area dwellings as early as ca
1730 and were most common through the mid-eighteenth century. The profile
of the moldings on the mantels of the corner fireplaces in the Fenner House
indicate a mid-eighteenth century date of construction. These facts are
consistent with the ca 1750 date given by Isham for the initial
construction of the south addition to the house. However, corner
fireplaces do appear in houses built as late as ca 1790. The ones in the
Fenner House therefore could have been built well after 1750, though
probably not as late as the 1830s, when this part of the house was
reportedly reconstructed. The south chimney is not supported by a large
mass of stone in the cellar; it rests instead on brick piers. Massive
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stone chimney foundations are commonly found in dwellings constructed from
the seventeenth through the early nineteenth century. The use of brick
piers to support chimneys is less common and is usually found in dwellings
built in the early nineteenth century. The evidence thus seems to indicate
two possibilities: that the south chimney and its foundation were built in
the early nineteenth century, using a relatively newer mode of construction
for the foundation and an older form for the chimney itself; or the
eighteenth-century chimney was kept when the south end was "rebuilt" in the
early nineteenth century, and its original foundation was replaced with a
newer one. Neither explanation is entirely satisfactory. Despite the
presence of an oven in the chimney breast of the southeast corner room, the
size of the fire box is much smaller than that of a typical cooking
fireplace, which makes it seem unlikely that this room was ever used as a
kitchen. One fact that does seem to support the statement that the south
end was "rebuilt in 1835" is the evidence that framing members in the
southeast corner room were cut down in size. Through the eighteenth and
early nineteenth century the dimensions of posts and beams typically used
in timber-framed domestic buildings became increasingly smaller until
eventually the members were small enough to be hidden within the walls.

The cutting away of the beams in the southeast corner room of the Fenner
House could be plausibly explained as an early nineteenth-century
alteration of an earlier structure done to make the interior look more up-
to-date.
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